

### Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

## Vaccine

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/vaccine



### Review

# The 2009 A (H1N1) influenza virus pandemic: A review<sup>☆</sup>

Marc P. Girard a,\*, John S. Tamb, Olga M. Assossouc, Marie Paule Kienyb

- <sup>a</sup> University Paris-7 Denis Diderot, 39 rue Seignemartin, 69008, Lyon, France
- <sup>b</sup> World Health Organization, 20 Av Appia, CH-1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland
- <sup>c</sup> Unité de Recherche Clinique Lariboisière-St Louis, Hôpital Fernand Widal, 200 rue du Fbg Saint Denis, 75010, Paris, France

#### ARTICLE INFO

#### Article history: Received 13 February 2010 Received in revised form 29 April 2010 Accepted 12 May 2010 Available online 27 May 2010

Keywords: H1N1 Influenza pandemic Influenza vaccines Viral gene reassortment

#### ABSTRACT

In March and early April 2009 a new swine-origin influenza virus (S-OIV), A (H1N1), emerged in Mexico and the USA. The virus quickly spread worldwide through human-to-human transmission. In view of the number of countries and communities which were reporting human cases, the World Health Organization raised the influenza pandemic alert to the highest level (level 6) on June 11, 2009. The propensity of the virus to primarily affect children, young adults and pregnant women, especially those with an underlying lung or cardiac disease condition, and the substantial increase in rate of hospitalizations, prompted the efforts of the pharmaceutical industry, including new manufacturers from China, Thailand, India and South America, to develop pandemic H1N1 influenza vaccines. All currently registered vaccines were tested for safety and immunogenicity in clinical trials on human volunteers. All were found to be safe and to elicit potentially protective antibody responses after the administration of a single dose of vaccine, including split inactivated vaccines with or without adjuvant, whole-virion vaccines and live-attenuated vaccines. The need for an increased surveillance of influenza virus circulation in swine is outlined.

© 2010 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

#### **Contents**

1.	Introduction	4895
2.	Epidemiology and disease burden	4896
	2.1. Epidemiology	4896
	2.2. Clinical presentation, severity and disease burden	
	2.3. Modes of transmission	4897
3.	Virology	4898
	3.1. Molecular and antigenic characterization	
	3.2. Experimental pathogenicity in animals	
	3.3. Sensitivity to antiviral drugs	4898
	Vaccines	4899
5.	Discussion	4900
	References	

#### 1. Introduction

Since the global H1N1 influenza virus pandemic of 1918, influenza virus gene reassortment has been documented and observed to occur among human influenza viruses with different

subtypes, between human and avian viruses, and among animal (including avian and other animals) influenza viruses. Such reassortant viruses led to the global pandemics of 1957 (H2N2) and 1968 (H3N2) [1,2]. Although A/H1N1 viruses reappeared in 1977 and continued to circulate among humans, the seasonal epidemics of influenza A virus from 1968 to 2009 were dominated by A/H3N2 virus variants generated by antigenic drift [3,4]. Then, in early April 2009, a new influenza A (H1N1) virus emerged among humans in California and Mexico, quickly spreading worldwide through human-to-human transmission, and generating the first influenza pandemic of the 21st century [5,6]. The virus was found to be antigenically unrelated to human seasonal influenza viruses but genetically related to viruses known to circulate in pigs. In view

 $<sup>^{\</sup>dot{x}}$  Disclaimer: The authors alone are responsible for the views expressed in this publication, which does not necessarily represent the policy of the World Health Organization.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +33 6 8023 7682/4 7874 8531.

E-mail addresses: marc.girard36@wanadoo.fr (M.P. Girard), tams@who.int (J.S. Tam), olga\_marie.assossou@live.fr (O.M. Assossou), kienym@who.int (M.P. Kieny).

of its likely swine origin, it is often referred to as 'swine-origin influenza virus' (S-OIV) A/H1N1, or pandemic influenza A (H1N1) 2009 virus

Molecular studies of the new A (H1N1) 2009 pandemic virus genome showed that it was derived from several viruses which had been circulating in pigs for years, namely the North American H3N2 triple-reassortant (see details below), the classical swine H1N1 lineage, and the Eurasian 'avian-like' swine H1N1 virus [7,8]. The 'avian-like' virus lineage spread throughout Europe and Asia while also reassorting with other influenza virus strains. In Asian pig populations, for example, the classical swine H1N1 virus lineage still circulates together with the 'avian-like' swine H1N1, H1N2 reassortants and the North American H3N2 triple-reassortant [9]. Multiple lineages of influenza A viruses were found to co-circulate during any single season and to undergo frequent reassortment. This, in turn, has had a major impact on antigenic evolution [10].

Initial transmission of the pandemic A (H1N1) 2009 virus to humans is believed to have taken place at least several months before recognition of the first outbreak. Phylogenetic data even suggest that the reassortment of swine lineages may have occurred years before emergence in humans [11–14]. Surprisingly however, there has been no evidence so far that pigs have played any role in the epidemiology or in the worldwide spread of the virus in human populations [15].

On June 11, 2009, the World Health Organization raised the pandemic alert to level 6, in view of the number of countries and regions which officially reported A (H1N1) 2009 influenza cases in their communities. The virus was spreading rapidly around the world and appeared to affect primarily children and young adults as well as those with an underlying lung or cardiac disease condition [16]. The need for a specific vaccine was recognized in view of the continued outbreaks of severe human infections and the risk of a possible increase in pathogenicity and/or acquisition of antiviral resistance of the A (H1N1) 2009 virus through eventual reassortment. Vaccine development was promptly initiated in collaboration between the World Health Organization, Health Ministers and National Health Agencies, and the vaccine industry.

## 2. Epidemiology and disease burden

## 2.1. Epidemiology

The emergence of the pandemic HINI influenza virus in humans in early April 2009 in Mexico and California came as a total surprise. The virus first emerged in a small village in Vera Cruz, Mexico, but went unnoticed as no case of illness required hospitalization. The first two cases in California occurred in a 10-year-old boy and a 9year-old girl who were hospitalized due to the infection. The H1N1 strain then quickly spread worldwide through human-to-human transmission. The number of countries, overseas territories and communities that reported laboratory-confirmed A (H1N1) 2009 cases in humans was 208 on December 30th, 2009 and more than 214 on April 18th, 2010. Most countries in the southern hemisphere reported more pandemic H1N1 in 2009 than any of the seasonal subtypes. In the temperate areas of the northern hemisphere, the spread of the pandemic was more gradual, initially spreading widely in the USA, Spain, Great Britain, Japan and Germany before invading other countries. In the tropics, infection rates appeared to be rapidly increasing in both Central and South America and Asia, especially in Thailand. However, very few epidemiological data are available regarding the spread of the virus in the African continent. It is not possible at this time to estimate what the future will look like and whether there will be, or not, a new wave of the pandemic in 2010. The most pessimistic estimates call

for 1 billion to 3 billion people (15–45% of the world's population) becoming infected.

On the basis of recorded clusters in the USA, the household secondary attack rate was initially estimated to be 27.3%. In a recent study of the A (H1N1) 2009 virus infection cases reported to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, an acute respiratory illness developed in none of the household contacts in 156 of 216 households (72%), in one contact in 46 households (21%), and in more than one contact in 14 households (6%). The transmissibility of the A (H1N1) 2009 influenza virus in households was therefore lower than that seen in past pandemics [17]. The mean time between the onset of symptoms in a patient case and the onset of symptoms in the household contact infected by that patient was 2.6 days (2.2–3.5).

In school outbreaks, a typical infected schoolchild spread the virus to 2.4 (range 1.8–3.2) other children on average within the school. The basic reproductive number,  $R_0$ , thus ranged from 1.3 to 1.7 [18]. This is consistent with further pandemic spread causing illness in 25–39% of the world's population over a 1-year period, similar to the spread of the 1957–1958 Asian influenza A (H2N2) pandemic. In a study of an A (H1N1) 2009 outbreak in a New York City school, the estimated median generation time was 2.7 days (range 2.0–3.5) and the within-school reproductive number  $R_0$ , 3.3 [19]. The natural history and rate of transmission of the A (H1N1) 2009 influenza virus appears to be similar to those of previously observed circulating pandemic and interpandemic influenza viruses.

The actual number of influenza A (H1N1) 2009 cases worldwide remains unknown, as most cases were diagnosed clinically and were not laboratory-confirmed [20]. In most countries, the capacity for laboratory diagnosis was so severely stressed that virological surveillance had to be restricted to patients attending hospitals [21]. However, it is likely that the total number of cases of pandemic H1N1 influenza worldwide was in the order of several tens of millions of cases. An early estimate of the extent of disease in the USA reported that  $\sim\!1$  of 6 Americans had experienced pandemic influenza as of early December 2009, accounting for  $\sim\!50$  million cases [22]. A recent estimate called for about 200 million pandemic H1N1 influenza cases worldwide, of which  $\sim\!10$  millions occurred in France [23].

A characteristic feature of the A (H1N1) 2009 pandemic is that it disproportionately affected children and young adults as compared to the older age groups [24]. One of the early studies in the USA showed that, although the age of the A/H1N1 patients in the study ranged from 3 months to 81 years, 60% of the patients were 18 years of age or younger [25]. In most countries, the majority of A (H1N1) 2009 cases have occurred in younger age groups, with the median age estimated to be 12–17 years in Canada, the USA, Chile, Japan and the UK. Of the 272 patients with A (H1N1) 2009 infection who were hospitalized in the USA from April to mid-June 2009, 45% were under the age of 18 years, whereas only 5% were 65 years of age or older [26]. Similarly, the mean age of the 426 persons infected with the A (H1N1) 2009 influenza virus who were quarantined in 61 hospitals in 20 provinces in China was 23.4 years [27].

This age distribution suggests partial immunity to the virus in the older population [28]. This hypothesis is supported by subsequent studies which showed that 33% of humans over 60 years of age had cross-reacting antibodies to A (H1N1) 2009 by hemagglutination-inhibition test and neutralization tests, although antibody titers to the pandemic virus did not significantly increase after vaccination with a seasonal vaccine, even when formulated with water-in-oil adjuvants [11,29]. In another study, no neutralizing antibodies against the pandemic A (H1N1) 2009 virus could be found in sera from people born after 1920 [30]. However, homology between the A (H1N1) 1918 and the A (H1N1) 2009 viruses could be demonstrated by cross-protection studies in mice [31].

Also, a strong conservation of more than 50% of T cell epitopes (whether T-helper or CTL epitopes) was described between the pandemic A (H1N1) 2009 virus and the seasonal H1N1 influenza virus strains used to prepare the 2007 and 2008 influenza vaccines, which would provide some level of cross-reactive cellular immunity to the pandemic virus in the vaccinated human population [32]. In addition, the possible role of the NA antigen in cross-protective immunity, which remains poorly explored, should be considered [33]. It should be noted that while the highest rate of severe disease leading to hospitalization has been in patients less than 5 years of age, the highest case fatality rate was recorded in the 50–60-year-old population.

## 2.2. Clinical presentation, severity and disease burden

Pandemic influenza A (H1N1) 2009 is mostly a mild, self-limiting upper respiratory tract illness with (or for some patient groups, without) fever, cough and sore throat, myalgia, malaise, chills, rhinorrhea, conjunctivitis, headache and shortness of breath. Up to 50% of patients present with gastrointestinal symptoms including diarrhea and vomiting. The spectrum of clinical presentation varies from asymptomatic cases to primary viral pneumonia resulting in respiratory failure, acute respiratory distress, multi-organ failure and death [34]. The A (H1N1) 2009 virus is able to bind to alpha 2,3-linked sialic acid receptors found on the surface of cells located deep in the lungs that seasonal influenza virus cannot bind (they only bind to alpha 2,6-linked sialic acid receptors found on cells of the upper respiratory tract), suggesting why people with the pandemic H1N1 influenza can experience more severe pulmonary symptoms as compared to seasonal influenza [35].

It was reported that 2-5% of confirmed cases in the USA and Canada and 6% of cases in Mexico required hospitalization. A fifth of them required clinical management in intensive care unit (ICU). Most of the hospitalized patients had underlying conditions such as cardiovascular disease, respiratory diseases including asthma and COAD, auto-immune disorders, obesity, diabetes or cancer [26]. Asthma appeared to be a significant risk factor for severe disease in children [36]. Among those severely affected were also previously healthy young people with no underlying health condition. These patients rapidly developed severe respiratory failure often associated with failure of other organs [37]. Due to the fact that testing and confirmation of pandemic A (H1N1) 2009 infection were more likely to occur in hospitalized patients and cases with severe or progressive disease, the reported hospitalization rates, especially at peak periods of infection, may not however reflect the actual situation.

Pregnant women, especially in their second and third trimester, are also at a higher risk for severe disease [16,38,39]. It was reported that more than one-third of pregnant women with confirmed A (H1N1) 2009 infection were hospitalized in the USA due to acute respiratory distress syndrome [40]. A California statewide survey showed that most (95%) of the pregnant women who were hospitalized from April 23 to August 11, 2009, due to pandemic H1N1 infection were in the second or third trimester, and only approximately one third had established risk factors other than pregnancy. Overall, 22% of these women required intensive care and 8% died [41].

Similar findings were reported from Australia and New Zealand, where the number of ICU admissions due to influenza A in 2009 was 15 times the number due to viral pneumonia in recent years: infants from 0 to 1 year of age and adults from 25 to 64 years of age were at particular risk, as well as pregnant women, adults with a body mass index greater than 35, and indigenous Australian and New Zealand populations. Mortality in hospitalized patients was 16% [42].

The overall A (H1N1) 2009 case fatality rate in Mexico was estimated to be 0.4% [43]. The average case fatality rate that can be deduced from laboratory-confirmed cases officially reported to

WHO as of 06 August 2009 was much lower (0.08%). Current estimates put the average case fatality rate at 0.15–0.25%. A (H1N1) 2009 deaths occurred mostly in middle-aged adults (median age around 40–50 years), contrary to seasonal Influenza where fatal disease occurs most often in the elderly (>65 years old). In a recent study of the first 16 weeks of the pandemic in California, which reported 1088 cases of hospitalization or death, the median age of hospitalized patients was 27 years of age, but the case fatality rate (11%) was definitely the highest in persons 50 years of age and older [44].

Most of the deaths due to pandemic H1N1 infection occurred in patients with an underlying medical condition. In South Africa, a majority of fatal cases occurred in HIV-infected people, including pregnant women. However, close to one third of the hospitalized influenza patients who died had no known underlying medical conditions that could have predisposed them for severe infection.

From data on medically attended and hospitalized A (H1N1) 2009 patients in Milwaukee and information from New York City hospitals on numbers of hospitalizations, use of intensive care units (ICUs) and deaths, it was estimated that about 1 in 2000 (between 1 in 4000 and 1 in 1000) people in the USA who presented with symptoms of pandemic influenza infection died; about 1 in 400 symptomatic cases required treatment in ICU; and 1 in 70 required hospital admission [22]. Among the medically attended cases in Milwaukee, 60% were in the 5–17 years age group, but severity of the cases was by far higher in the 18–50 years age group. Significantly higher figures have been reported elsewhere for the A (H1N1) 2009 case fatality rate [45,46], most likely reflecting a large incertitude on the actual numbers of true pandemic influenza cases.

In Australia, where the rate of hospitalization was 23 per 100 000 population, the highest rate of hospitalization occurred among children under 5 years of age. The median age of the 190 patients who died of A (H1N1) 2009 influenza illness was 53 years, as compared with 83 years in previous seasons [47].

Rates of hospitalization of children with confirmed A (H1N1) 2009 influenza illness in Argentina were twice those for seasonal influenza the preceding year. Of the 251 children who were hospitalized with confirmed A (H1N1) 2009 influenza, 19% were admitted to an ICU, 17% required mechanical ventilation and 5% died, a 10 fold increase in the pediatric death rate as compared with seasonal influenza in previous years [48].

The official number of deaths from laboratory-confirmed pandemic influenza A (H1N1) 2009 infection worldwide reported to WHO as of 28 March 2010 was 17 483. This number appears to be very much lower than the estimated annual global mortality associated with seasonal influenza. However, the actual fatality of the A (H1N1) 2009 pandemic cannot be accurately ascertained at this time. Given the relatively high mortality rates for at-risk groups and hospitalized cases, as described above, the annual mortality due to A (H1N1) 2009 is expected to be higher. In addition, as the clinical presentation of pandemic influenza shared many common features with common respiratory diseases, patients may not have been tested for the virus. This is particularly important to consider in under-resourced countries, where deaths from respiratory diseases such as pneumonia are frequent.

The economic impact of the pandemic outbreak in Mexico was estimated as >\$3.2 billion (0.3% of gross national product) [49]. However, the global economic impact of the H1N1 pandemic is uncertain at the present time.

## 2.3. Modes of transmission

The modes of transmission of the pandemic A (H1N1) 2009 virus appear to be similar to those of seasonal influenza viruses and involve primarily close unprotected contact with respiratory droplets. The relative impact of close range exposure to large- and

small-particle droplets expelled when an infected person coughs is unknown but could be more prominent under special conditions such as aerosol-generating procedures. The virus is also likely transmitted through contacts with fomites that are contaminated with respiratory or possibly gastrointestinal fluids [50]. Many A (H1N1) 2009-infected patients experienced diarrhea, and viral RNA could readily be detected in the feces of these patients, making the potential for fecal-oral transmission a plausible risk [25]. However, viable infectious virus particles in feces have not been reported and the possibility of fecal transmission of the H1N1 virus remains to be proven.

The incubation period for A (H1N1) 2009 infection appears to range from 2 to 7 days, but most patients probably shed virus from day 1 before the onset of symptoms through 5–7 days after [51]. The median period during which the virus could be detected with the use of real-time PCR in quarantined patients was 6 days (range 1–17), whether or not fever was present [27]. Studies of transmission in animal models show that the pandemic H1N1 virus transmits just as efficiently as seasonal flu [52], contrary to earlier findings at the start of the pandemic [53].

## 3. Virology

The novel A (H1N1) 2009 virus can be grown in Madin Darby canine kidney (MDCK) cell cultures, primary human airway epithelial cell cultures, or in embryonated chicken eggs. Scanning electron microscopy revealed virions of mostly filamentous shape [30].

Sequence analyses showed the absence of markers associated with high pathogenicity in avian or mammalian species, such as a multibasic hemagglutinin cleavage site [54] or a lysine residue at position 627 in the PB2 protein [55]. The occurrence of a mutation at position 222 in the HA gene segment of H1N1 isolates from post-mortem specimens has been reported in various countries including Norway, the USA, China, Japan, Brazil and France. Although suspected to be associated with increased pathogenicity, this mutation did not change the antigenicity of the virus or its susceptibility to antiviral drugs, nor did it appear to provide the virus with increased transmissibility [56].

## 3.1. Molecular and antigenic characterization

Phylogenetic analyses of A (H1N1) virus isolates reveal a great homogeneity of genomic sequences. The virus is antigenically distinct from human seasonal influenza viruses but genetically related to three viruses that circulate in pigs [12,57], with the HA (H1), NP and NS gene segments coming from the classical swine H1N1 lineage. The H1 sequence can actually be traced back to the 1918 H1N1 pandemic virus (the "Spanish flu"), which has remained endemic in swine and continued to circulate among pigs in Asia, the America's and, until the 1980s, in Europe [16,58,59].

The NA (N1) and M genes of the pandemic A (H1N1) 2009 virus come from the 'avian-like' Eurasian swine H1N1 lineage, which emerged in Europe in 1979 after reassortment between a classical swine and an avian H1N1 virus. The virus then spread through Europe and Asia [7,8,60], displacing the classical swine H1N1 virus from Europe and generating new reassortants in swine with different influenza A viruses of human origin [61].

Finally, the PA, PB1 and PB2 genes of the 2009 pandemic H1N1 virus are from the North American H3N2 'triple-reassortant' lineage, which was first isolated from pigs in America in 1998 in which it showed unusual pathogenicity [62–64]. The name 'triple-reassortant' relates to the fact that the virus has genes from human, classical swine and North American avian influenza viruses.

The A (H1N1) 2009 virus has therefore inherited virus gene segments of all three sources: swine, human and avian origin.

However, no data are available to help evaluate when, where, or between which parent viruses the initial reassortment actually occurred [11,13,14].

Antigenically, all A (H1N1) 2009 virus isolates look similar to classical swine viruses and to the reassortant H1N1 viruses that have been circulating among pigs in the USA over the last decade, showing no antigenic cross-reactivity with contemporary human seasonal H1N1 viruses.

#### 3.2. Experimental pathogenicity in animals

Experimental pathogenicity of the A (H1N1) 2009 virus was tested in mice, ferrets and nonhuman primates [30]. The virus replicated more efficiently in the lungs of infected mice, generating earlier bronchitis and alveolitis, than infection with a recent human H1N1 virus (A/Kawasaki/UTK-4). It also elicited markedly increased production of interleukin-10 (IL-10), interferon gamma (IFN- $\gamma$ ), IL-4 and IL-5. Similarly, the virus induced elevated fever, severe lung lesions with oedematous exudate and inflammatory infiltrates and high antigenic loads in pneumocytes in nonhuman primates, similar to what was reported for highly pathogenic avian H5N1 influenza viruses [65]. This may be related to the affinity of the virus for alpha 2,3-linked sialic acid receptors in the lower respiratory tract [35]. The virus was also more pathogenic in ferrets,  $replicating \ to \ higher \ titers \ in \ the \ trachea \ and \ lung \ and \ causing \ more$ severe bronchopneumonia with prominent viral antigen expression in the peribronchial glands and alveolar cells than human seasonal H1N1 viruses [66], while showing much less pathogenicity for the animal than the highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N1 virus [67,68]. In contrast, the A (H1N1) 2009 virus was devoid of overt pathogenicity for pathogen-free miniature pigs, although it did replicate efficiently in the respiratory tract of the animals

The A (H1N1) 2009 influenza virus RNA was also detected in the intestinal tract of inoculated ferrets, consistent with the occurrence of gastrointestinal symptoms in many human A (H1N1) 2009 cases [53]. Transmission of the virus via aerosol or respiratory droplets was tested in ferrets, and found to be either as efficient as [66] or less efficient than [53] highly transmissible seasonal A (H1N1) virus. The latter observation is in agreement with the observation that the virus may not be that easily transmissible among humans [17,18,69].

## 3.3. Sensitivity to antiviral drugs

Genetic and phenotypic analyses indicate that the A (H1N1) 2009 pandemic influenza virus is susceptible to the neuraminidase inhibitors, oseltamivir and zanamivir, but resistant to the adamantanes [70]. Treatment with oseltamivir is efficacious if initiated within the first 36 h after infection [71]. Although a Cochrane review on oseltamivir cast doubt on the effectiveness and safety of the drug [72], the US FDA issued an emergency authorization approving the use of oseltamivir to treat influenza illness in infants under the age of 1 year and for chemoprophylaxis in infants older than 3 months of age.

Over 160 A (H1N1) 2009 viral isolates have been described that were resistant to oseltamivir, due to the same mutation in the neuraminidase (H275Y) as that described in oseltamivir-resistant seasonal H1N1 and avian H5N1 strains [73,74]. These cases have been sporadic and there was no evidence of further transmission of the resistance marker into the virus population. Most of the reported cases of resistance were associated with oseltamivir treatment, including prophylactic use of the drug against pandemic influenza infection.

New strategies to prevent and treat influenza virus infection may eventually be developed based on the use of broad-spectrum neutralizing monoclonal antibodies such as CR6261, which has the potential to neutralize a spectrum of influenza virus subtypes and was shown to be highly protective against lethal H5N1 and H1N1 infections in mice [75].

#### 4. Vaccines

Vaccines are considered to be one of the most effective tools, not only to prevent the spread of the influenza virus but also to mitigate the severity of illness and the impact of the disease [76]. In view of the rapid spread of the A (H1N1) 2009 influenza pandemic worldwide, the rapid implementation of a vaccine has been a global priority. The risk of the virus gaining additional virulence properties, such as enhanced pathogenicity and/or antiviral resistance through mutations and/or reassortment with other human or avian influenza viruses, further highlighted the urgency of rapid vaccine development. In addition, the lack of cross-protective immunity between the pandemic and seasonal influenza virus strains rendered the 2009 seasonal influenza vaccine ineffective in the fight against the A (H1N1) 2009 pandemic.

The development of a pandemic H1N1 influenza vaccine has raised complex challenges. In addition to the regulatory needs for assessment of immunogenicity and safety of the vaccine in human volunteers, other important issues have been raised. These include the need to ensure that sufficient seasonal influenza vaccine would still be available in time, accurate estimation of short- and mediumterm production capacity of the different vaccine producers, and plans to reserve part of the foreseen production capacity for underresourced countries [77,78].

As of June 2009, the total global annual capacity for trivalent seasonal influenza vaccine production stood at 876 million doses, with seven manufacturers responsible for 560 million doses (i.e. 64% of the capacity). In spite of the WHO global pandemic influenza action plan to increase the potential supply of pandemic influenza vaccine [79], the production of enough pandemic vaccine to immunize the world's population, if and when needed, would take several years! In addition, it was not clear early on whether one or two doses of pandemic vaccine would be required to induce full protection, or whether the use of water-in-oil adjuvants would have the same antigen dose-sparing effect as in the case of the H5N1 vaccines [80,81]. Finally, the yields of virus in eggs or cell cultures, which is an important determinant of the amount of vaccine doses that can be manufactured, were not quite up to expectation.

A total of 26 vaccine manufacturers from America, Europe, Russia, Australia and Asia have now developed or are developing pandemic A (H1N1) 2009 vaccines. These include inactivated whole-virion vaccines, split inactivated vaccines, subunit vaccines and live-attenuated vaccines, including a novel type of highly attenuated influenza virus strain that is deleted of the NS1 genomic RNA segment [82]. Of note is the participation of new vaccine manufacturers from China, India, Thailand and South America. All pandemic A (H1N1) 2009 vaccines currently registered were tested in clinical trials for safety and immunogenicity. A few clinical trials still are in progress for new vaccines and in certain at-risk patient subpopulations.

Preliminary reports indicated that a single 15-μg dose of an inactivated split influenza A (H1N1) 2009 vaccine induced a hemagglutination-inhibition assay titer of 1:40 or more in nearly all 18–64-year-old volunteers [83], suggestive of possible crosspriming with previous exposure to the vaccine antigens and revealing that there was more similarity between the influenza A (H1N1) 2009 virus and recent seasonal virus strains than had been recognized previously [84]. The US NIAID Office of Communications also reported that among healthy volunteers who received a single 15-μg dose of either the Sanofi-Pasteur or the CSL Limited

inactivated split A (H1N1) 2009 vaccine, a robust immune response was measured in 96% and 80%, respectively, of adults aged 18–64 years, and in 56% and 60%, respectively, of adults aged 65 and older [85.86].

In a recent Phase II trial on 410 children and 724 adults who received a single dose (15 µg HA) of inactivated A (H1N1) vaccine in the USA, potentially protective serological titers of >1:40 were detected at 21 days after vaccination in 45–50% of 6–35-month-old, 69-75% of 3-9-year-old, 95-100% of 18-64-year-old, and 93-95% of elderly subjects [87]. No vaccine-related severe adverse event was reported, but approximately 50% of every age and vaccine group reported injection-site (pain, redness) and systemic (fever) reactions. Similarly, a multi-centered, double-blind, randomized trial on 12 691 subjects aged 3 years or older receiving a single dose (7.5 µg HA) of a split virion A (H1N1) 2009 vaccine in China showed that potentially protective serological titers were detected on day 21 in 76.7% of 3-12-year-old children, 96.8% of 12-18-year-old adolescents, 89.5% of 18-60-year-old adults, and 80.3% of adults older than 60 years. In children, the administration of a second dose of the 7.5 µg formulation increased the seroprotection rate to 97.7% [88].

The fact that it is possible to induce potentially protective antibody levels against A (H1N1) infection in adults within 2 weeks of administration of a single dose of vaccine has now been confirmed with every pandemic H1N1 vaccine tested [89]. This has been shown for split inactivated vaccines containing 15 µg HA (Sanofi-Pasteur, CSL, Sinovac and others), split inactivated vaccines with a water-in-oil adjuvant containing either 7.5 µg HA and MF59 (Novartis) [90] or 3.8 µg HA and ASO3 (GSK), and whole-virion vaccines containing 10 µg HA (Baxter) or 6 µg HA (Omnivest, Hungary) [91]. National authorities have recommended that young children should receive a two-dose schedule, as in the case of seasonal vaccines, but immunogenicity data from clinical trials indicate that with many vaccines a single dose induced appropriate levels of immune responses in children [92]. It seems prudent, however, to follow the current recommendations for two doses to infants and young children [93].

Vaccination against pandemic H1N1 influenza was first implemented in China [94], followed by a large number of other countries. The problems still remain, however, of vaccinating people living in under-resourced countries, which are dependent upon donations from governments of industrialized countries and the pharmaceutical industry and which are little able to afford the cost of mass vaccination. The deployment and application of these donations at targeted countries are challenging issues. The WHO is efficiently coordinating this effort.

Among the high priority groups for vaccination [95] are health care workers and pregnant women. The latter are at risk of severe illness and mortality. Their vaccination is a highly cost-effective strategy with substantial benefits to both the infants and the expectant mothers [96,97]. Other priority groups are young children and individuals with an underlying cardiovascular or respiratory medical condition including asthma, auto-immune disorders and diabetes.

The safety of the A (H1N1) 2009 vaccines has been thoroughly monitored during the various clinical trials. Current data show that the pandemic influenza vaccines are well tolerated and behave as the corresponding seasonal vaccines in terms of safety and lack of severe adverse events. A small number of cases of Guillain Barré syndrome were reported after pandemic H1N1 vaccine administration in large-scale campaigns, but they all recovered quickly [98]. Although oil-in-water adjuvanted vaccines have been approved by the European Association EMEA for use in all populations, including pregnant women, their use in the USA has raised regulatory problems, as no adjuvanted flu vaccine had ever been licensed in that country and no fast-track system was in place for their registration [99].

#### 5. Discussion

The most damaging influenza pandemic in recent history was the 1918–1920 H1N1 pandemic that resulted in some 40–50 million deaths, mainly among the young adult population [100]. The new H1N1 virus that is causing the first influenza pandemic of the 21st century is clearly less virulent than the 1918 virus, although it partially shares the same H1 antigenicity.

As outlined by Nistal-Villan and Garcia-Sastre [101], the new pandemic has given the world sobering lessons on the experts' inability to predict the specific subtype that will start a new pandemic. Attention during the last several years was focussed on the avian H5N1 virus strain, due to its high intrinsic pathogenicity and, to a lesser extent, on H7, H9 and H2 viruses as potential new pandemic strains. The sudden emergence of the A (H1N1) 2009 virus was totally unexpected, and at the same time, provided additional evidence on the role of domestic pigs in the ecosystem of influenza A and the need for systematic swine surveillance in the future [14].

In spite of the rapid response of the WHO and National Authorities, it took several months to have a H1N1 vaccine available, thus no vaccination was possible during the 2009 winter season in the Southern Hemisphere where the new H1N1 virus was prevalent. This illustrates well the incapability of the vaccine industry to produce enough vaccine in a timely manner to protect vulnerable populations, especially in developing countries.

Such an incapability, together with the global impact of the A (H1N1) 2009 pandemic on public health, have further reinforced the idea of developing an 'universal' influenza vaccine that could provide efficacious cross-reactive immunity and induce broad protection against different influenza virus variants, clades, and even subtypes, making the need for yearly seasonal vaccination unnecessary. Recent research and developmental work have been most encouraging for this approach. It was demonstrated that the external region of the ion channel M2 viral protein (M2e), the sequence of which is relatively well conserved among influenza A subtypes, can elicit cross-protection through antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity [102–105]. The safety and efficacy of that approach remains, however, to be documented [106].

The recent finding that the human immune system can recognize a conserved neutralization epitope on the HA molecule that is shared across several influenza virus subtypes [107,108], combined with the fact that the well-conserved NP viral nucleoprotein could generate cross-protective cellular immunity [109] are also strong arguments in favor of the possibility of developing an 'universal' vaccine [110]. The evidence that influenza virus-specific cell-mediated immunity can be used as a basis for broad antiviral protection was recently demonstrated in the mouse model [111], but this approach needs to be studied further in other animals and humans in a more systematic way.

A most striking finding regarding the pandemic A (H1N1) 2009 virus was the recent demonstration of the homology between the H1 hemagglutinins of the 2009 and the 1918 pandemic A (H1N1) viruses [112,113]. The cocrystal structure of the 1918 HA with an antibody from a survivor of the 1918 "Spanish flu" that neutralized both 1918 and 2009 H1N1 viruses revealed an epitope that is conserved in both pandemic viruses [114], providing a likely explanation for the age-related immunity to the current influenza pandemic. The HA molecule from the 1918 H1N1 virus was therefore at least partially conserved for 91 years while circulating in pigs and finally reemerging in the A (H1N1) 2009 S-OIV [31].

#### References

[1] Taubenberger JK, Reid AH, Lourens RM, Wang R, Jin G, Fanning TG. Characterization of the 1918 influenza virus polymerase genes. Nature 2005;437:889–93.

- [2] Rambaut A, Pybus OG, Nelson MI, Viboud C, Taubenberger JK, Holmes EC. The genomic and epidemiological dynamics of human influenza A virus. Nature 2008:453:615–9.
- [3] Smith DJ, Lapedes AS, de Jong JC, Bestebroer TM, Rimmelzwaan GF, Osterhaus AD, et al. Mapping the antigenic and genetic evolution of influenza virus. Science 2004;305:371–6.
- [4] Taubenberger JK, Morens DM. 1918 Influenza: the mother of all pandemics. Emerg Infect Dis 2006;12:15–22.
- [5] Update: novel influenza A (H1N1) virus infections—worldwide, May 6, 2009. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2009;58:453–8.
- [6] Scalera NM, Mossad SB. The first pandemic of the 21st century: a review of the 2009 pandemic variant influenza A (H1N1) virus. Postgrad Med 2009;121:43-7.
- [7] Pensaert M, Ottis K, Vandeputte J, Kaplan MM, Bachmann PA. Evidence for the natural transmission of influenza A virus from wild ducts to swine and its potential importance for man. Bull World Health Organ 1981;59:75–8.
- [8] Brown IH. The epidemiology and evolution of influenza viruses in pigs. Vet Microbiol 2000;74:29–46.
- [9] Jung K, Song DS. Evidence of the co-circulation of influenza H1N1, H1N2 and H3N2 viruses in the pig population of Korea. Vet Rec 2007;161: 104-5
- [10] Ghedin E, Fitch A, Boyne A, Griesemer S, DePasse J, Bera J, et al. Mixed infection and the genesis of influenza virus diversity. J Virol 2009;83: 8832–41.
- [11] Garten RJ, Davis CT, Russell CA, Shu B, Lindstrom S, Balish A, et al. Antigenic and genetic characteristics of swine-origin 2009 A(H1N1) influenza viruses circulating in humans. Science 2009;325:197–201.
- [12] Cohen J. Pandemic influenza. Straight from the pig's mouth: swine research with swine influenzas. Science 2009;325:140–1.
- [13] Smith GJ, Bahl J, Vijaykrishna D, Zhang J, Poon LL, Chen H, et al. Dating the emergence of pandemic influenza viruses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009;106:11709–12.
- [14] Smith GJ, Vijaykrishna D, Bahl J, Lycett SJ, Worobey M, Pybus OG, et al. Origins and evolutionary genomics of the 2009 swine-origin H1N1 influenza A epidemic. Nature 2009;459:1122–5.
- [15] Vallat B. Flu: no sign so far that the human pandemic is spread by pigs. Nature 2009:460:683.
- [16] Peiris JS, Poon LL, Guan Y. Emergence of a novel swine-origin influenza A virus (S-OIV) H1N1 virus in humans. J Clin Virol 2009;45:169–73.
- [17] Cauchemez S, Donnelly CA, Reed C, Ghani AC, Fraser C, Kent CK, et al. House-hold transmission of 2009 pandemic influenza A (H1N1) virus in the United States. N Engl J Med 2009;361:2619–27.
- [18] Yang Y, Sugimoto JD, Halloran ME, Basta NE, Chao DL, Matrajt L, et al. The transmissibility and control of pandemic influenza A (H1N1) virus. Science 2009;326:729–33.
- [19] Lessler J, Reich NG, Cummings DA, Nair HP, Jordan HT, Thompson N. Outbreak of 2009 pandemic influenza A (H1N1) at a New York City school. N Engl J Med 2009:361:2628–36.
- [20] http://www.who.int/csr/disease/swineflu/h1n1/surveillance20090710/en/index/html.
- [21] Strategic Advisory Group of Experts on Immunization—report of the extraordinary meeting on the influenza A (H1N1) 2009 pandemic, 7 July 2009. Wkly Epidemiol Rec 2009:84:301–4.
- [22] Presanis AM, De Angelis D, Hagy A, Reed C, Riley S, Cooper BS, et al. The severity of pandemic H1N1 influenza in the United States, from April to July 2009: a Bayesian analysis. PLoS Med 2009:6:e1000207.
- [23] Hannoun C. La petite histoire du virus grippal H1N1: de 1918 à 2009. Bull Soc Fr Microbiol 2010;25:9–20.
- [24] Kwan-Gett TS, Baer A, Duchin JS. Spring 2009 H1N1 influenza outbreak in King country Washington. Disaster Med Pub Health Preparedness 2009;3:S109–16.
- [25] Dawood FS, Jain S, Finelli L, Shaw MW, Lindstrom S, Garten RJ, et al. Emergence of a novel swine-origin influenza A (H1N1) virus in humans. N Engl J Med 2009;360:2605–15.
- [26] Jain S, Kamimoto L, Bramley AM, Schmitz AM, Benoit SR, Louie J, et al. Hospitalized patients with 2009 H1N1 influenza in the United States, April–June 2009. N Engl J Med 2009;361:1935–44.
- [27] Cao B, Li XW, Mao Y, Wang J, Lu HZ, Chen YS, et al. Clinical features of the initial cases of 2009 pandemic influenza A (H1N1) virus infection in China. N Engl J Med 2009;361:2507–17.
- [28] Rothberg MB, Haessler SD. Complications of seasonal and pandemic influenza. Crit Care Med 2010;38:e91–7.
- [29] Serum cross-reactive antibody response to a novel influenza A (H1N1) virus after vaccination with seasonal influenza vaccine. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2009;58:521–4.
- [30] Itoh Y, Shinya K, Kiso M, Watanabe T, Sakoda Y, Hatta M, et al. In vitro and in vivo characterization of new swine-origin H1N1 influenza viruses. Nature 2009:460:1021–5.
- [31] Manicassamy B, Medina RA, Hai R, Tsibane T, Stertz S, Nistal-Villan E, et al. Protection of mice against lethal challenge with 2009 H1N1 influenza A virus by 1918-like and classical swine H1N1 based vaccines. PLoS Pathog 2010;6:e1000745.
- [32] De Groot AS, Ardito M, McClaine EM, Moise L, Martin WD. Immunoinformatic comparison of T-cell epitopes contained in novel swine-origin influenza A (H1N1) virus with epitopes in 2008–2009 conventional influenza vaccine. Vaccine 2009;27:5740–7.

- [33] Bright RA, Neuzil KM, Pervikov Y, Palkonyay L. WHO meeting on the role of neuraminidase in inducing protective immunity against influenza infection, Vilamoura, Portugal, September 14, 2008. Vaccine 2009;27:6366–9.
- [34] Jain R, Goldman RD. Novel influenza A(H1N1): clinical presentation, diagnosis, and management. Pediatr Emerg Care 2009;25:791–6.
- [35] Childs RA, Palma AS, Wharton S, Matrosovich T, Liu Y, Chai W, et al. Receptorbinding specificity of pandemic influenza A (H1N1) 2009 virus determined by carbohydrate microarray. Nat Biotechnol 2009;27:797–9.
- [36] O'Riordan S, Barton M, Yau Y, Read SE, Allen U, Tran D. Risk factors and outcomes among children admitted to hospital with pandemic H1N1 influenza. CMAJ 2010;182:39–44.
- [37] Patel M, Dennis A, Flutter C, Khan Z. Pandemic (H1N1) 2009 influenza. Br J Anaesth 2010;104:128–42.
- [38] Jamieson DJ, Honein MA, Rasmussen SA, Williams JL, Swerdlow DL, Biggerstaff MS, et al. H1N1 2009 influenza virus infection during pregnancy in the USA. Lancet 2009:374:451–8.
- [39] Lapinsky SE. Critical illness as a result of influenza A/H1N1 infection in pregnancy. BMJ 2010;340:c1235.
- [40] Satpathy HK, Lindsay M, Kawwass JF. Novel H1N1 virus infection and pregnancy. Postgrad Med 2009;121:106–12.
- [41] Louie JK, Acosta M, Jamieson DJ, Honein MA. Severe 2009 H1N1 influenza in pregnant and postpartum women in California. N Engl J Med 2010;362:27–35.
- [42] Webb SA, Pettila V, Seppelt I, Bellomo R, Bailey M, Cooper DJ, et al. Critical care services and 2009 H1N1 influenza in Australia and New Zealand. N Engl | Med 2009;361:1925–34.
- [43] Fraser C, Donnelly CA, Cauchemez S, Hanage WP, Van Kerkhove MD, Hollingsworth TD, et al. Pandemic potential of a strain of influenza A (H1N1): early findings. Science 2009;324:1557–61.
- [44] Louie JK, Acosta M, Winter K, Jean C, Gavali S, Schechter R, et al. Factors associated with death or hospitalization due to pandemic 2009 influenza A(H1N1) infection in California. JAMA 2009;302:1896–902.
- [45] Garske T, Legrand J, Donnelly CA, Ward H, Cauchemez S, Fraser C, et al. Assessing the severity of the novel influenza A/H1N1 pandemic. BMJ 2009;339:b2840.
- [46] Nishiura H, Klinkenberg D, Roberts M, Heesterbeek JA. Early epidemiological assessment of the virulence of emerging infectious diseases: a case study of an influenza pandemic. PLoS One 2009;4:e6852.
- [47] Bishop JF, Murnane MP, Owen R. Australia's winter with the 2009 pandemic influenza A (H1N1) virus. N Engl J Med 2009;361:2591–4.
- [48] Libster R, Bugna J, Coviello S, Hijano DR, Dunaiewsky M, Reynoso N, et al. Pediatric hospitalizations associated with 2009 pandemic influenza A (H1N1) in Argentina. N Engl J Med 2010;362:45–55.
- [49] Bell DM, Weisfuse IB, Hernandez-Avila M, Del Rio C, Bustamante X, Rodier G. Pandemic influenza as 21st century urban public health crisis. Emerg Infect Dis 2009;15:1963–9.
- [50] Boone SA, Gerba CP. The occurrence of influenza A virus on household and day care center fomites. J Infect 2005;51:103–9.
- [51] De Serres G, Rouleau I, Hamelin ME, Quach C, Skowronski D, Flamand L, et al. Contagious period for pandemic (H1N1) 2009. Emerg Infect Dis 2010;16:783–8.
- [52] Steel J, Lowen AC, Pena L, Angel M, Solorzano A, Albrecht R, et al. Live attenuated influenza viruses containing NS1 truncations as vaccine candidates against H5N1 highly pathogenic avian influenza. J Virol 2009;83: 1742–53.
- [53] Maines TR, Jayaraman A, Belser JA, Wadford DA, Pappas C, Zeng H, et al. Transmission and pathogenesis of swine-origin 2009 A(H1N1) influenza viruses in ferrets and mice. Science 2009;325:484–7.
- [54] Kawaoka Y, Webster RG. Sequence requirements for cleavage activation of influenza virus hemagglutinin expressed in mammalian cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1988:85:324–8.
- [55] Hatta M, Gao P, Halfmann P, Kawaoka Y. Molecular basis for high virulence of Hong Kong H5N1 influenza A viruses. Science 2001;293:1840–2.
- [56] http://www.who.int/csr/resources/publications/swineflu/cp165\_2009 \_2812\_review\_d222g\_amino\_acid\_substitution.
- [57] Neumann G, Noda T, Kawaoka Y. Emergence and pandemic potential of swineorigin H1N1 influenza virus. Nature 2009;459:931–9.
- [58] Tumpey TM, Garcia-Sastre A, Taubenberger JK, Palese P, Swayne DE, Basler CF. Pathogenicity and immunogenicity of influenza viruses with genes from the 1918 pandemic virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004;101: 3166–71.
- [59] Vincent AL, Lager KM, Ma W, Lekcharoensuk P, Gramer MR, Loiacono C, et al. Evaluation of hemagglutinin subtype 1 swine influenza viruses from the United States. Vet Microbiol 2006;118:212–22.
- [60] Guan Y, Shortridge KF, Krauss S, Li PH, Kawaoka Y, Webster RG. Emergence of avian H1N1 influenza viruses in pigs in China. J Virol 1996;70:8041–6.
- [61] Van Reeth K. Avian and swine influenza viruses: our current understanding of the zoonotic risk. Vet Res 2007;38:243-60.
- [62] Zhou NN, Senne DA, Landgraf JS, Swenson SL, Erickson G, Rossow K, et al. Genetic reassortment of avian, swine, and human influenza A viruses in American pigs. J Virol 1999;73:8851–6.
- [63] Olsen CW. The emergence of novel swine influenza viruses in North America. Virus Res 2002;85:199–210.
- [64] Webby RJ, Swenson SL, Krauss SL, Gerrish PJ, Goyal SM, Webster RG. Evolution of swine H3N2 influenza viruses in the United States. J Virol 2000;74:8243–51.
- [65] Baskin CR, Bielefeldt-Ohmann H, Tumpey TM, Sabourin PJ, Long JP, Garcia-Sastre A, et al. Early and sustained innate immune response defines pathology

- and death in nonhuman primates infected by highly pathogenic influenza virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009;106:3455–60.
- [66] Munster VJ, de Wit E, van den Brand JM, Herfst S, Schrauwen EJ, Bestebroer TM, et al. Pathogenesis and transmission of swine-origin 2009 A(H1N1) influenza virus in ferrets. Science 2009;325:481–3.
- [67] van den Brand JM, Stittelaar KJ, van Amerongen G, Rimmelzwaan GF, Simon J, de Wit E, et al. Severity of pneumonia due to new H1N1 influenza virus in ferrets is intermediate between that due to seasonal H1N1 virus and highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N1 virus. J Infect Dis 2010;201:993–9.
- [68] Whitley RJ. Of ferrets and humans: influenza pathogenesis. J Infect Dis 2010;201:976-7.
- [69] Enserink M. Pandemic influenza. Ferrets shed light on new virus's severity and spread. Science 2009;325:17.
- [70] Update: drug susceptibility of swine-origin influenza A (H1N1) viruses, April 2009. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2009;58:433–5.
- [71] Uyeki T. Antiviral treatment for patients hospitalized with 2009 pandemic influenza A (H1N1). N Engl J Med 2009;361:e110.
- [72] Jefferson T, Jones M, Doshi P, Del Mar C. Neuraminidase inhibitors for preventing and treating influenza in healthy adults: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ 2009;339:b5106.
- [73] Baz M, Abed Y, Papenburg J, Bouhy X, Hamelin ME, Boivin G. Emergence of oseltamivir-resistant pandemic H1N1 virus during prophylaxis. N Engl J Med 2009;361:2296–7.
- [74] http://www.who.int/csr/disease/swineflu/laboratory23\_12\_2009/en/index. html [accessed 5 Jan 2010].
- [75] Koudstaal W, Koldijk MH, Brakenhoff JP, Cornelissen LA, Weverling GJ, Friesen RH, et al. Pre- and postexposure use of human monoclonal antibody against H5N1 and H1N1 influenza virus in mice: viable alternative to oseltamivir. J Infect Dis 2009;200:1870–3.
- [76] Ferguson NM, Cummings DA, Fraser C, Cajka JC, Cooley PC, Burke DS. Strategies for mitigating an influenza pandemic. Nature 2006;442:448–52.
- [77] Kieny MP, Fukuda K. The pandemic influenza vaccine challenge. Vaccine 2008;26(Suppl. 4):D3-4.
- [78] Collin N, de Radigues X. Vaccine production capacity for seasonal and pandemic (H1N1) 2009 influenza. Vaccine 2009;27:5184–6.
- [79] Kieny MP, Costa A, Hombach J, Carrasco P, Pervikov Y, Salisbury D, et al. A global pandemic influenza vaccine action plan. Vaccine 2006;24:6367–70
- [80] Girard MP, Osterhaus A, Pervikov Y, Palkonyay L, Kieny MP. Report of the third meeting on "influenza vaccines that induce broad spectrum and long-lasting immune responses", World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, 3–4 December 2007. Vaccine 2008;26:2443–50.
- [81] Palache B, Krause R. Progress with human H5N1 vaccines: a perspective from industry. Expert Rev Vaccines 2009:8:391–400
- [82] Wacheck V, Egorov A, Groiss F, Pfeiffer A, Fuereder T, Hoeflmayer D, et al. A novel type of influenza vaccine: safety and immunogenicity of replicationdeficient influenza virus created by deletion of the interferon antagonist NS1. Infect Dis 2010:201:354–62.
- [83] Greenberg ME, Lai MH, Hartel GF, Wichems CH, Gittleson C, Bennet J, et al. Response to a monovalent 2009 influenza A (H1N1) vaccine. N Engl J Med 2009:361:2405–13.
- [84] Zimmer SM, Burke DS. Historical perspective—emergence of influenza A (H1N1) viruses. N Engl J Med 2009;361:279–85.
- [85] http://www.niaid.nih.gov.
- [86] http://clinicaltrials.gov.
- [87] Plennevaux E, Sheldon E, Blatter M, Reeves-Hoche MK, Denis M. Immune response after a single vaccination against 2009 influenza A H1N1 in USA: a preliminary report of two randomised controlled phase 2 trials. Lancet 2010:375:41-8
- [88] Liang XF, Wang HQ, Wang JZ, Fang HH, Wu J, Zhu FC, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of 2009 pandemic influenza A H1N1 vaccines in China: a multicentre, double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2010;375: 56-66.
- [89] Zhu FC, Wang H, Fang HH, Yang JG, Lin XJ, Liang XF, et al. A novel influenza A (H1N1) vaccine in various age groups. N Engl J Med 2009;361: 2414–23.
- [90] Clark TW, Pareek M, Hoschler K, Dillon H, Nicholson KG, Groth N, et al. Trial of 2009 influenza A (H1N1) monovalent MF59-adjuvanted vaccine. N Engl J Med 2009;361:2424–35.
- [91] Vajo Z, Tamas F, Sinka L, Jankovics I. Safety and immunogenicity of a 2009 pandemic influenza A H1N1 vaccine when administered alone or simultaneously with the seasonal influenza vaccine for the 2009–10 influenza season: a multicentre. randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2010:375:49–55.
- [92] Nolan T, McVernon J, Skeljo M, Richmond P, Wadia U, Lambert S, et al. Immunogenicity of a monovalent 2009 influenza A(H1N1) vaccine in infants and children: a randomized trial. JAMA 2010;303:37–46.
- [93] Fiore AE, Neuzil KM. 2009 influenza A(H1N1) monovalent vaccines for children. JAMA 2010;303:73-4.
- [94] Stone R. Swine flu outbreak. China first to vaccinate against novel H1N1 virus. Science 2009;325:1482–3.
- [95] Use of influenza A (H1N1) 2009 monovalent vaccine: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP), 2009. MMWR Recomm Rep 2009;58:1–8.
- [96] Zaman K, Roy E, Arifeen SE, Rahman M, Raqib R, Wilson E, et al. Effectiveness of maternal influenza immunization in mothers and infants. N Engl J Med 2008;359:1555–64.

- [97] Beigi RH, Wiringa AE, Bailey RR, Assi TM, Lee BY. Economic value of seasonal and pandemic influenza vaccination during pregnancy. Clin Infect Dis 2009:49:1784–92.
- [98] Huang WT, Chuang JH, Kuo SH. Monitoring the safety of pandemic H1N1 vaccine. Lancet 2010;375:1164.
- [99] Butler D. Regulators face tough flu-jab choices. Nature 2009;460:446.
- [100] Johnson NP, Mueller J. Updating the accounts: global mortality of the 1918–1920 "Spanish" influenza pandemic. Bull Hist Med 2002;76: 105–15
- [101] Nistal-Villan E, Garcia-Sastre A. New prospects for the rational design of antivirals. Nat Med 2009;15:1253–4.
- [102] Fiers W, De Filette M, Birkett A, Neirynck S, Min Jou W. A "universal" human influenza A vaccine. Virus Res 2004;103:173-6.
- [103] De Filette M, Ramne A, Birkett A, Lycke N, Lowenadler B, Min Jou W, et al. The universal influenza vaccine M2e-HBc administered intranasally in combination with the adjuvant CTA1-DD provides complete protection. Vaccine 2006:24:544-51.
- [104] Song L, Nakaar V, Kavita U, Price A, Huleatt J, Tang J, et al. Efficacious recombinant influenza vaccines produced by high yield bacterial expression: a solution to global pandemic and seasonal needs. PLoS One 2008;3: e2257
- [105] Neirynck S, Deroo T, Saelens X, Vanlandschoot P, Jou WM, Fiers W. A universal influenza A vaccine based on the extracellular domain of the M2 protein. Nat Med 1999:5:1157–63.
- [106] Heinen PP, Rijsewijk FA, de Boer-Luijtze EA, Bianchi AT. Vaccination of pigs with a DNA construct expressing an influenza virus M2-nucleoprotein fusion

- protein exacerbates disease after challenge with influenza A virus. J Gen Virol 2002:83:1851–9.
- [107] Ekiert DC, Bhabha G, Elsliger MA, Friesen RH, Jongeneelen M, Throsby M, et al. Antibody recognition of a highly conserved influenza virus epitope. Science 2009;324:246–51.
- [108] Sui J, Hwang WC, Perez S, Wei G, Aird D, Chen LM, et al. Structural and functional bases for broad-spectrum neutralization of avian and human influenza A viruses. Nat Struct Mol Biol 2009;16:265–73.
- [109] Forrest BD, Pride MW, Dunning AJ, Capeding MR, Chotpitayasunondh T, Tam JS, et al. Correlation of cellular immune responses with protection against culture-confirmed influenza virus in young children. Clin Vaccine Immunol 2008;15:1042–53.
- [110] Chen GL, Subbarao K. Attacking the flu: neutralizing antibodies may lead to 'universal' vaccine. Nat Med 2009;15:1251–2.
- [111] Alexander J, Bilsel P, del Guercio MF, Stewart S, Marinkovic-Petrovic A, Southwood S, et al. Universal influenza DNA vaccine encoding conserved CD4+T cell epitopes protects against lethal viral challenge in HLA-DR transgenic mice. Vaccine 2010;28:664-72.
- [112] Cohen J. Swine flu pandemic. What's old is new: 1918 virus matches 2009 H1N1 strain. Science 2010;327:1563–4.
- [113] Wei CJ, Boyington JC, Dai K, Houser KV, Pearce MB, Kong WP, et al. Crossneutralization of 1918 and 2009 influenza viruses: role of glycans in viral evolution and vaccine design. Sci Transl Med 2010;2(2'):24ra21.
- [114] Xu R, Ekiert DC, Krause JC, Hai R, Crowe Jr JE, Wilson IA. Structural basis of preexisting immunity to the 2009 H1N1 pandemic influenza virus. Science 2010;328:357–60.